# KEARNEY VISA



# Digital enablement of small and medium-sized businesses

The information provided in this Whitepaper is for information purposes only and should not be relied on by third parties. This Whitepaper does not in any way represent advice, recommendations or otherwise.

All case studies, comparisons, statistics, research, recommendations, or information in this Whitepaper (the "Information") are provided "AS IS" and intended for informational purposes only and should not be relied upon for operational, marketing, legal, investment, technical, tax, financial or other advice. You should consult with your advisors to determine what laws and regulations may apply to your circumstances.

Visa/AT Kearney make no representation (whether express or implied) or give any warranty regarding the suitability, accuracy or completeness of the Information in this Whitepaper and that matters which may affect third parties are not addressed in the Whitepaper and any liability is therefore hereby expressly excluded to the maximum extent permitted by the applicable law. Any reliance third parties choose to make on the Information is a matter of their judgement exclusively and independently. Furthermore, the Information contained herein is subject to change or amendment without notice.

The actual costs, savings and benefits of any recommendations or programs may vary based upon your specific business needs and program requirements. By their nature, recommendations are not guarantees of future performance or results and are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict or quantify. Visa/AT Kearney are under no duty to update or revise this Whitepaper in any way.

All intellectual property rights, including but not limited to copyrights, and the ownership and title to this Whitepaper and the information contained therein are owned by and vest exclusively in Visa. Third parties shall not have nor acquire any rights in such intellectual property and shall not copy, distribute or make any other use of the Whitepaper and the Information contained therein.

These materials and best practice recommendations are provided for informational purposes only and should not be relied upon for marketing, legal, regulatory, or other advice. Recommended marketing materials should be independently evaluated in light of your specific business needs, operations, and policies as well as any applicable laws and regulations. Visa/AT Kearney are not responsible for your use of the marketing materials, best practice recommendations, or other information, including errors of any kind, or conclusions you might draw from their use.

# Table of contents

Executive summary		
About the study	3	
1. Introduction	4	
2. Importance of digital enablement of SMBs	6	
2.1. Importance of SMBs for the economy	6	
2.2. The importance of SMB digitalization	7	
2.3. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic	8	
3. Digital payments: a key enabler of SMB digitalization	10	
3.1. Benefits for businesses	10	
3.2. Challenges for businesses	13	
4. Governments' vested interest in SMB digital payment adoption	16	
5. Public policy tools to support digitalization of SMB payments	18	
5.1. Creating conditions for a robust, open payments infrastructure	19	
5.2. Utilizing fiscal incentives to encourage digital payment adoption	22	
5.3. Democratizing SMB access to lending	26	
5.4. Facilitating SMB access to public procurement and digitalizing SMB-initiated payments	27	
Bibliography	30	

## **Executive summary**

Small and medium-sized businesses (SMBs) are the foundation **of the modern economy**. They represent about <u>90 percent of all businesses and more than 50 percent of employment worldwide</u>.

Digitalization can help SMBs to **increase their reach, enhance competitiveness, and improve operational efficiency**. SMB digital enablement helps to improve the sector's resilience, promote innovation, enable new job creation, and increase the economic prosperity both of local communities and society.

**Digital payments are a key enabler of SMB digitalization**, helping to level the playing field versus their larger peers. For the small businesses, digital payments can drive an increase in the number of clients and revenue, improvement in customer convenience and satisfaction, reduction of operational risks, and easier access to lending.

**Governments have a vested interest in the adoption of digital payments within the SMB sector.** Cash often makes informal activities invisible to authorities: as digital payments begin to displace cash, it becomes harder for SMBs to remain outside of government purview and reach. As these businesses become more visible—and more accountable from a tax perspective—the reach of the informal economy is reduced. A 5 percent increase in digital payments per year for five consecutive years could reduce the informal economy by 11–13 percent and boost tax revenue, according to a <u>Visa-Kearney study</u>.

Governments aiming to remove barriers facing SMBs in the digitalization of their business models can tap into a spectrum of possible actions:

- Demonstrate commitment to digital payments through legislation, for example, by mandating acceptance
  of digital payments or electronic government-to-business (G2B) and business-to-business (B2B) invoicing.
  Work proactively with the payments ecosystem to develop complementary policies that set the conditions
  for innovation and open access
- Bring together different players from the private sector—banks, payment networks, and technology
  providers—to drive critical industry initiatives. Set the aspiration, align interests, and help establish common
  rules of engagement
- Tap into technology advancements developed by the private sector to improve security, financial literacy and inclusion, competition, innovation, and open access to the payment system
- Spearhead better access to finance, especially for smaller businesses, through government disbursement (grants, subsidized loans, etc.) and by endorsing innovation by the private sector (i.e., credit risk assessment using point-of-sale (PoS) data)
- Increase tax compliance and tax revenue by creating financial incentives for adoption of digital payments. Tax rebates, discounts on digital transactions, and tax lotteries increase the transparency of payment streams and <u>boost tax revenue in a single-digit range</u> for most countries, as demonstrated by recent experience in South Korea and Greece

Targeted government-led programs can help **equip the SMB sector and the entire economy for a more prosperous digital future**, provided they are backed by a clear strategy, grounded in appropriate legislation, and complemented by concerted campaigns to educate SMBs about specific digital tools and benefits for their operations.

KEARNEY VISA

## **About the study**

This study has been commissioned and developed in collaboration between Visa—a global payments organization—and Kearney—a global management consulting firm. Our mutual goal is to engage with government officials and policymakers—inspiring them to collaborate and leverage the opportunities provided by digital payments to enhance publicsector services and maximize value for society and the economy.

The study was conducted between June and September 2022. All insights, recommendations, and conclusions featured in this study are based on data and information sourced both before the COVID-19 pandemic and during the last two years of the pandemic.

#### **Primary research**

20+ government officials and leaders of public-private partnerships

# 10+

Kearney Financial Services experts, with experience at the intersection of payments and public sector

## Visa subject matter experts across different geographies and functions

#### **Secondary research**

120+ data sources referenced in the white paper

# 35+

research and content pieces by international organizations, e.g., the World Bank, the OECD, the European Commission, the IFC, and the International Labour Organization

# 30+

reports of programs and studies published by public sector entities

#### **Global examples**

30+

programs deploying SMB digital enablement initiatives, including focus area, description, and results

2 in-depth case studies of flagship digital enablement solutions across different geographies

The case studies span several themes – digital payment acceptance, financial incentives for adoption of digital payments, technology advancements to improve open access to the payment system and access to finance

## **1. Introduction**

SMBs are the foundation of the modern economy. At a global level, SMBs represent a staggering <u>90</u> <u>percent of all businesses and more than 50 percent</u> <u>of employment</u>. Formal SMBs (registered companies) constitute <u>45 percent of employment and 33 percent</u> <u>of gross domestic product</u> (GDP) in emerging markets and developing economies. But these numbers are significantly higher when including informal SMBs those operating without a formal registration and outside of government reach.

Yet SMBs are more prone than larger firms to disruption during periods of economic turmoil. They have fewer financial resources, lower access to capital due to higher liquidity risks, and more volatile performance when economic conditions turn negative. Even in non-crisis times, SMBs face significant challenges in bringing products to market or purchasing inventory, such as access to financing, adoption of technology, and logistics.

The COVID-19 pandemic (referred to as "the pandemic", the "COVID-19 crisis", or "COVID-19" hereafter) highlighted the urgent imperative for the sector to build resilience. Over a <u>third of active SMBs</u> reported that they had to reduce their workforce as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, while <u>62 percent</u> <u>of companies cited lower sales</u> than before the pandemic. Without government support, <u>the rate of</u> <u>SMB failures would have almost doubled during</u> <u>the pandemic</u>.

Evidence suggests that businesses that are more digital are also more resilient during times of economic downturn—for example, those using e-commerce, digital tools such as digital payments, social media, or collaborative cloud-based solutions. In a <u>2021 policy paper, the OECD states</u> that SMBs "that were already engaging with digital tools, or accelerated uptake, had the capabilities to respond more efficiently to the pandemic business conditions". Digital solutions are also important outside of times of crisis. SMBs can derive greater benefit from digital technology than their larger peers—increasing sales revenue by reaching a larger customer base through online sales and reducing costs by automating processes and payments. Digitalization can help level the playing field for SMBs as compared to their larger peers—increasing customer reach and correcting the cost disadvantage inherent to small-scale operations. By facilitating SMB access to—and adoption of digital technologies, governments have the opportunity not only to support and strengthen the sector, but also to increase innovation and prosperity for the entire economy.

This paper explores the power of public policy actions to propel SMB digitalization—enhancing the resilience of the segment and building long-term economic prosperity. It focuses on the adoption of digital payments as a prerequisite for digitalizing the product and service delivery for SMBs and automating their invoicing, inventory management, and accounting. In this paper, we discuss four types of policy tools and their important contributions to SMB digitalization: (i) creating conditions for a robust, open payments infrastructure, (ii) utilizing fiscal incentives to encourage digital payment adoption, (iii) democratizing SMB access to lending, and (iv) facilitating SMB access to public procurement and digitalizing SMB-initiated payments.

Using detailed case studies, this paper also demonstrates how governments around the world can foster digital payment adoption among SMBs, the barriers they need to overcome, and the benefits they can expect to reap.



#### What are SMBs?

Governments base their definition of SMBs on a range of factors including the number of people employed, total annual revenue (also referred to as turnover or receipts below), book value, or investments. These indicators differ depending on the size and level of development of the country (both in terms of population and GDP), cultural values, and historical background. For example:

In the EU, SMBs are defined as companies with headcount of below 250 employees fulfilling one of two additional factors—either turnover of maximum USD51mn (EUR50mn), or a maximum balance sheet of USD44mn (EUR43mn).

In <u>the U.K.</u>, an SMB needs to meet two out of three criteria: turnover of less than USD30mn (GBP25mn), fewer than 250 employees, or gross assets of less than USD15mn (GBP12.5mn).

In <u>Singapore</u>, SMBs are defined as enterprises with operating receipts not more than USD72mn (SGD100mn) or employing not more than 200 workers.

In <u>Canada</u>, the cutoff is at 499 employees, while in <u>the U.S.</u>, SMB size standards are based on average annual receipts or the average employment of a firm but could vary by industry.



C:

Despite these differences, SMBs have one common characteristic across countries—they tend to be smaller companies. For example, in <u>Poland, France</u>, and the <u>U.K.</u>, 99 percent of companies have under 50 employees. In <u>Germany</u> <u>and Luxembourg</u>, the same figure stands at 97 percent, and in the <u>OECD countries</u>, at 94.4 percent of known firms.

In addition, the policies aimed at developing SMBs are often similar. In this paper, we therefore focus on discussing how governments can develop and strengthen this vital segment of the economy.

## 2. Importance of digital enablement of SMBs

# **2.1. Importance of SMBs for the economy**

#### A fundamental segment in terms of size and scope

SMBs are a fundamental part of economies around the world. On a global scale, they represent the majority of businesses and are the largest global employer. Their importance is especially evident at a country level. For example, in the <u>U.K. there were</u> <u>5.5mn SMBs at the beginning of 2022</u>; these businesses employed 60.7 percent of the workforce and contributed 51.1 percent of corporate sales revenue. In <u>Singapore in 2021</u>, SMBs employed over <u>70 percent of the workforce</u> and produced 44 percent of the nominal value added to the economy. In <u>Malaysia</u>, small businesses employed 47.8 percent of the workforce in the country in 2021 and accounted for 37.4 percent of the country's GDP.

#### **Creation of new workplaces**

SMBs are the main source of job creation in the global economy and account for <u>two-thirds of formal jobs in</u> <u>countries in Asia and Latin America and up to 80</u> <u>percent in Africa</u>. The majority of job creation in the EU is done by SMBs, <u>with the lowest shares of</u> <u>approximately 80 percent in France and Slovakia and</u> <u>the largest shares of above 92 percent in Latvia and</u> <u>Austria</u>. SMBs also have a <u>higher employment growth</u> <u>rate</u> compared to large businesses. The same study shows that the young SMBs—those between one and five years old—are the largest contributor to net job creation, with <u>contribution to job creation amounting</u> <u>to 40 percent</u>.

#### A powerful driver of innovation

Large companies—by virtue of their size—have the resources to invest in research and development and to bring innovation and new ideas to market. However, SMBs have a clear advantage when it comes to implementing a "fail fast, learn faster, execute smarter" approach. Smaller teams and less hierarchical organizations help SMBs pivot to new opportunities with greater speed and agility than larger firms, but not with less diligence. For example, Airbnb began in 2007 as a small startup and went on to revolutionize the global tourism industry, growing from two hosts in San Francisco to a community of over 4mn hosts all over the world. Also, such SMB startups leverage new technology from the start, whereas large companies often need to deploy or upgrade existing systems, making them less nimble as a result.

#### Investing in local community well-being

SMBs are commonly important for the local communities from which they originate as their owners <u>have an active and personal interest in the</u> well-being of the community:

- SMB owners frequently have a vested interest in the community's well-being. The often-symbiotic relationship between the residents of a community and owners of smaller companies gives SMBs a stronger motivation to help local populations. Local SMBs often produce locally, hire locally, pay taxes locally, and fund local charities and community programs, thus contributing to a more vibrant local community.
- SMBs provide higher tax revenue for local governments. Evidence suggests that <u>mixed-use</u> <u>development</u>—pedestrian-friendly development that blends residential, commercial, cultural, institutional, and/or industrial uses—typically features a high share of SMBs. What's more, it can realize 8x more tax revenue per acre compared to a Walmart store, as illustrated by the example of the city of Asheville.
- SMBs have a significant local multiplier effect. An additional economic benefit is generated by money being spent in the local economy. A study by Civic Economics found that on average <u>48</u> percent of each purchase at local independent businesses was recirculated in the local area, compared to less than 14 percent of purchases made at chain stores.

# **2.2. The importance of SMB digitalization**

Digitalization can help SMBs reduce costs, automate business processes, and reduce reliance on manual processing. It can enhance their competitiveness and helps them understand consumer behaviors. The benefits of digitalization for SMBs fall into two main areas:

#### **Increased reach and competitiveness**

SMBs generally have a smaller reach than large companies-often just one location or shop. Digital solutions give them the power to expand their customer and supplier base beyond their own street or community. In the EU, 46 percent of small firms that sell online used an e-commerce platform in 2021, such as Amazon, eBay, or local online marketplaces. In the countries of the Gulf Cooperation Council, SMBs doubled their use of the global online marketplaces during the pandemic. Female-led businesses with above average revenue growth are 25 percent more active on online marketplaces than their less successful peers. And with e-commerce accounting for more than a fifth of global retail sales in 2022 for the first time, SMBs face a tangible opportunity to capitalize on this growing momentum.

Other digital services-such as data analytics, online advertising, and digital consumer surveys-allow SMBs to better understand their customers at lower prices than those of traditional market research or advertising. The Connected Commerce Council and Google estimate that in Europe digitally advanced businesses are both 1.4x better at obtaining new customers and 1.4x more successful at retaining existing customers. At the same time, <u>64 percent of</u> European startups founded in the past five years agree that the costs of starting a business have been significantly reduced through the use of digital tools. It therefore comes as no surprise that over 70 percent of SMBs in developing nations prioritized digital marketing and e-commerce as 2021's top investments.

#### **Optimizing operational efficiency**

By digitalizing, SMBs can reduce operational costs. An OECD study indicates that <u>SMBs tend to digitalize</u> general administration and marketing functions first. The same study highlights that SMBs prefer to outsource digital solutions—partly to compensate for weak internal capabilities, but also because this represents a more cost-effective option.

Collaborative solutions-such as cloud-stored spreadsheets and word processors, video conferencing, and file sharing-have enabled SMBs to boost the efficiency of their day-to-day operations. According to a 2021 Kearney survey of 2,535 SMBs in Europe commissioned by Facebook, the most prevalent digital tools used by small businesses were communication, IT security, and accounting tools (used by 84 percent of SMBs), followed by collaboration (75 percent), customer relationship management (75 percent), analytics (65 percent), human resource management (63 percent), and supply chain productivity (61 percent). A 2022 study by Meta Platforms, capturing the responses of 22,054 SMB leaders across 30 countries and territories, shows that a global average of 15 percent of SMBs report using digital tools to reduce operations costs or costs of sourcing goods and services.

# **2.3. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic**

During the downturn due to the pandemic, many SMBs struggled with reduced demand. The impact on revenue was particularly severe, with <u>SMBs</u> experiencing a greater drop than large firms in the same sector and location by nearly 9 percentage points<sup>1</sup>. The Digitally Driven study of SMBs and their use of digital tools during the COVID-19 pandemic highlights that <u>90 percent of SMBs that are still in</u> business reported significant disruption during the pandemic, with 44 percent changing their products, services, and/or business model as a result.

Female- and minority-led businesses were particularly affected. Data suggests that female-led businesses in low- and middle-income countries <u>resumed</u> operations at a slower pace relative to men-led <u>businesses</u> six weeks after the peak of the first pandemic wave in the spring of 2020. Female-led firms also reported on average having <u>significantly</u> <u>less cash to cover their running costs</u>. What's more, over 40 percent of female-led companies experienced a <u>drop in their domestic sales and</u> <u>client bases</u>.

Businesses led by racial, religious, or indigenous minorities were also severely affected. In the United States the <u>number of active business owners</u> <u>plummeted by 22 percent</u> between February and April 2020, with African-American businesses hit especially hard, experiencing a <u>41 percent</u> drop. A <u>study conducted in Finland</u> highlights that support grants announced by the state appeared not to be particularly useful for minority-owned small restaurants due to restrictive eligibility criteria that many potentially fail to meet.

However, SMBs in Europe that use digital tools were able to build a <u>digital safety net during the pandemic,</u> <u>resulting in 60 percent better revenue and three</u> <u>times more hired employees</u>. Businesses that sold products through third-party online marketplaces fared better during the pandemic according to a <u>UNCTAD survey about the COVID-19 impact</u>. A study by the Visa Economic Empowerment Institute highlighted that while <u>micro and small enterprises</u> <u>experienced greater negative pandemic effects</u> in 2020 than medium and large firms, the degree of digitalization of these companies was a significant differentiating factor in their resilience. The COVID-19 crisis accelerated SMB digitalization, with firms moving operations online and implementing targeted working solutions to stay in business during lockdowns and overcome disruptions in supply chains. As we move beyond the pandemic, increased digitalization will likely play an increasingly important role for the sector competitiveness.

> **"Through the Resilient Cities Shaping a Digital World** program, the Metropolitan **District of Quito, together with Resilient Cities Network and** Visa, is strengthening commerce in the city by facilitating the buying and selling of produce, prioritizing small-scale producers and small and medium-sized businesses, as well as local production. This is preparing the urban economy to handle future acute shocks through digital strategies."

#### David Jácome

former Chief Resilience Officer, Metropolitan District of Quito

<sup>1</sup> Percentage point is the unit for the arithmetic difference of two percentages. This definition applies to the remainder of this whitepaper where the term "percentage point(s)" is used.

#### Visa – Resilient Cities Network Partnership – SMB digitalization during COVID-19

Resilient Cities Network is the world's leading urban resilience network to support global collaboration for a safe and equitable world for all. Since the onset of the pandemic, the network has been working with Visa to provide resilient solutions to SMBs. The partnership gave rise to <u>Resilient Cities Shaping a</u> <u>Digital World</u>—a program designed to advance digital transformation in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC). The program helps member cities across LAC to design digital solutions in pursuit of a more resilient future, including the two examples below:

Ŏ

Quito, Ecuador - In Quito, 30 percent of employment is generated by firms focused on food, lodging, and non-specialized products. Simultaneously, 89 percent of businesses are microbusinesses, making them especially vulnerable to crisis due to factors such as limited connectivity, disruptions in the value chains, and inability to accept digital payments. To ensure businesses would thrive in the face of the pandemic. the municipality of Quito, represented by CONQUITO, partnered up with Resilient Cities Network and Visa to deploy digital payments and connect small producers and small local retailers, helping them better source and distribute local agricultural production and manage finances. To date, the initiative is helping to develop small-scale agriculture centers and biomarkets by connecting 100 individual and group ventures in a joint effort to promote sustainability by selling production surpluses from urban agriculture locally.

### 

Salvador, Brazil - With a big informal labor market, Salvador was heavily hit by the COVID-19 pandemic, putting many small business owners and workers on the brink of survival. In response, Resilient Cities Network, Visa, and the local government of Salvador launched two initiatives: Digital School for entrepreneurs and Talent Booster for new talents. The Digital School aimed to equip small firms with digital knowledge necessary to succeed in the new reality and narrow down the digital gap. In the Talent Booster program, individuals could complete trainings courses for programmers and market agents-acquiring new skills that came in handy for the increasingly digitalized SMBs in the city. Digitalization initiatives were not limited to distribution of equipment only, but also enacted through capacity building and education.





# **3. Digital payments: a key enabler of SMB digitalization**

The ability to accept, process, and make digital payment is a key element of SMB digitalization giving companies and customers quick, secure, and easy ways of completing financial transactions. By adopting digital payments, companies can increase revenues and reduce costs at the same time. In addition, they can capitalize on a real-time overview into daily sales to better manage inventories and reduce administration through e-filing and e-payment of taxes. New technologies give customers new payment methods such as contactless payments (i.e., "tap-to-pay"), mobile wallets, and QR codes. The convenience of these modern ways to pay quickly translate into wider adoption by consumers.

## 3.1. Benefits for businesses

The benefits of digital payments are clear. A <u>Moody's</u> study analyzing the impact of payment cards on economic growth in 70 countries accounting for 95 percent of global GDP found that card usage alone added USD245bn to real GDP between 2015 and 2019. In absolute terms, this translates into the creation of about 10.5mn jobs for the same period. Digital payments offer also multiple direct benefits for SMBs.

"SMBs in Europe that use digital tools were able to build a digital safety net during the pandemic, resulting in 60 percent better revenue and three times more hired employees"

#### MORE CLIENTS AND HIGHER REVENUE



SMBs that accept card payments at their physical point of sale can serve an increasingly large segment of the population who prefer to pay with card. Studies in different geographies show that adoption of digital payments increases the revenues for small merchants.

For example, the Cashless **Poland** program (Case study #1: Cashless Poland: accelerating digital payment acceptance) showed <u>that 49 percent of</u> <u>participating small business owners saw a positive</u> impact on the number of acquired clients and <u>revenue</u> after installing a PoS device in their store.

A study carried out in **Singapore** shows that when small merchants introduced payments through a mobile wallet they experienced a monthly <u>increase</u> in debit and credit card spend (3.5 percent) and number of transactions (3.4 percent) relative to large merchants.

These findings are especially relevant in retail traffic—e.g., small shops and restaurants—where convenience of payment is critical, and for new small businesses that do not yet have a strong repeat customer base. Research conducted at Télécom ParisTech in **France** found that accepting contactless payment drives <u>an increase of about 1.3 percent in</u> <u>card spend</u>. The availability of digital payment options also influenced consumers' purchase decisions and thus <u>increased consumer spend in **Nigeria**</u>, which implemented its <u>Cashless Nigeria</u> policy in 2014.

Businesses that do not accept digital payments risk losing the growing proportion of customers who prefer a cashless option. This can create a vicious cycle for small merchants: cash-only businesses might see lower revenues, making them more reluctant to invest in PoS adoption.

#### **REDUCED RISK RELATIVE TO CASH MANAGEMENT**



The real costs of cash are significant, including those incurred through human error, lack of public safety, and forgery. Digital payments carry a lower risk of human error due to the potential for automation, better traceability, and easier ex-post analysis and reporting. They also eliminate the risk of accepting counterfeit notes. The risk of theft and robbery falls as the use of digital payments rises and less money is kept on premises.



A **U.S.** case study highlights how electronic payments can increase public safety: due to the reduction in burglary, assault, and larceny following the U.S. government's switch to electronic distribution of social aid and benefits, the overall <u>crime rate is</u> <u>estimated to have decreased by 9.8 percent in direct</u> <u>response to the electronic benefit transfer program</u>. Meanwhile, <u>first-hand accounts in **Ghana** anticipate</u> higher crime rates as a result of citizens opting for cash rather than digital payments in response to the introduction of taxes on mobile money.

#### **GREATER CONVENIENCE FOR CUSTOMERS**



Studies show that the key drivers for adopting new payment methods are convenience, ease of use, and widespread acceptance. While cash is still prevalent in day-to-day transactions in the Euro area<sup>2</sup> (73 percent in terms of number of transactions), the ECB highlights that consumers' self-reported preference is for digital payments with only 27 percent favoring cash. According to Visa's Global Back to Business 2022 study, the failure to offer digital payment at a physical store is frequently a dealbreaker-41 percent of consumers surveyed said they have abandoned a purchase because digital payments were not accepted, and younger shoppers are even more likely to do so. Digital payments were also among the top five areas for growth according to SMBs and among the top five factors influencing store purchasing choice for consumers. Going forward, 41 percent of consumers surveyed said they plan to shift to using only digital payments within the next two years, or are already cashless.

#### \*

In regions with limited payment acceptance infrastructure, such as sub-Saharan Africa, mobile money offers the same convenience as cards do in Europe or the U.S. It gives people the ability to securely receive, withdraw and send money, pay for bills, and receive funds from family abroad—all without being connected to the formal banking system. In **Senegal**, <u>45 percent of the population</u> aged above 15 years has a mobile money account and <u>77 percent uses it two or more times a month</u>—even though <u>only slightly more than half of the population</u> is able to read and write. Due to the convenience of digital payments, their importance in the lives of people around the world is growing, regardless of their location.

<sup>2</sup> The "Euro area" refers to the area consisting of countries where the currency is the euro. The euro (€) is the official currency of 19 out of 27 EU member countries.



#### PERCEPTION OF HIGH COSTS AMONG MERCHANTS



The costs associated with digital payment infrastructure could be perceived as a barrier to adoption for SMBs. Merchants that operate a PoS device make monthly payments to the acquiring bank and are often charged a fixed fee, regardless of their level of use. What's more, business owners might be tied into contracts for several years. These findings were echoed by the Polish government before the launch of its <u>Cashless Poland program</u> in 2017, with the fixed fee for a PoS device representing the main obstacle for adoption by small merchants.

Regulation has contributed to a reduction in the merchant fees for card payments during the last decade, as noted by both national banks and private organizations, such as the <u>Payment System Board of the Reserve Bank of Australia</u>. A report about the EU Interchange Fee Regulation from 2015–2016 conducted by Copenhagen Economics and EY for the European Commission estimates a <u>decline in annual</u> interchange fees of around EUR2.7bn between 2015 and 2017 and reduced costs of accepting card payments for merchants in the range of EUR1.2bn per year.

As technology evolves, mobile PoS devices are becoming lighter, cheaper, and more popular. SMBs can now turn their smartphones into PoS devices via dedicated apps.



In **Ukraine**, multiple banks—including Oschadbank partnered with Visa to launch <u>apps that turn</u> <u>merchants' smartphones or tablets into fully fledged</u> <u>PoS terminals</u> based on Visa's Tap-to-Phone solution. In addition, fintechs have started to introduce free compact and mobile PoS terminals for small merchants at affordable prices. According to a recent market review into the supply of card-acquiring services conducted by the Payment Systems Regulator in the **U.K.**, <u>nearly 90 percent of small and</u> <u>medium-sized merchants who tried to switch to a</u> <u>lower cost option or negotiate with their provider</u> <u>were successful in securing a better deal</u>. However, the perceptions of merchants themselves have been slower to change despite this drop in costs.

#### THE HIDDEN COST OF CASH

The adoption of digital payments has been hindered by the misconception that cash is free. Unlike PoS devices, cash does not require an initial investment, monthly fee, or transaction commissions. This is a reason why merchants occasionally offer clients a small discount if purchases are paid in cash. But cash comes with several "hidden" costs: paper money has to be securely managed and transported, which takes time and money.



Back in 2013, the cost of cash to the various stakeholders, consumers, businesses, and the government <u>amounted to at least USD200bn in the</u> <u>U.S.</u> Given that the aggregate costs have an impact on all U.S. citizens, this amounts to <u>approximately</u> <u>USD1,739 in annual cost imposed per U.S. household</u>. Cash transactions may have fallen recently, but cash management requirements have stayed the same, making an already inefficient process even more costly. At the same time, awareness of these costs among SMBs remains low.



#### LIMITED ONLINE NETWORK ACCESS



PoS devices rely on a stable internet connection in order to settle transactions between merchants and issuing banks. Without internet access, the merchant is unable to verify if the transaction has been accepted by the customer's bank until the PoS goes online. This can be a significant issue for SMBs in remote rural areas, where telecommunication providers may not yet offer coverage. In recent years, new commercial solutions are starting to address this challenge.

۲	

In **India**, Visa launched a product that gives users access to offline payments technology. The initiative, announced in 2021, enables customers <u>to hold a</u> <u>stored value of a daily spend limit of USD25</u> (INR2,000) and a single transaction limit of USD2.5 (INR200) on a chip-based Visa debit, credit, or <u>prepaid card</u>. If the balance is insufficient, the transaction will be declined—similarly to how it would operate in the case of physical tender.

#### LACK OF AWARENESS AND LOW DIGITAL LITERACY



Another barrier to adopting digital payments is the lack of awareness about their benefits and perceived lack of technical proficiency.

A survey of SMBs in **Thailand** found that a key barrier to adopting digital payments identified by most respondents involved a <u>lack of skill and expertise to</u> <u>identify and use resources properly</u>.

#### ¢:

In **Singapore**, the government targeted a traditional part of the local food culture—hawker centers (including cooked food and market stalls), coffee shops, and industrial canteens—helping stall-holders reduce physical contact with customers during the pandemic and encouraging the adoption of contactless digital payments. The <u>Hawkers Go Digital</u> <u>program</u> saw <u>more than half of all stall-owners on</u> <u>government-owned premises adopt digital payments</u> in less than a year.



KEARNEY VISA

# 4. Governments' vested interest in SMB digital payment adoption

Governments frequently aim to protect their citizens and stimulate fair competition in the private sector. Reducing the informal economy is an essential part of this drive. A study by Visa and Kearney identified a strong inverse relationship between digital payments and the informal economy. Cash makes informal activities often invisible to authorities: as digital payments begin to displace cash, the reach of the informal economy is reduced. The study projected that even a 5 percent increase in digital payments per year for five consecutive years could reduce the informal economy by 11-13 percent. This could also have a significant impact on tax revenue, increasing it by up to 1.7 percent in the U.S., or 3.5 percent in Italy. A faster pace of digital payments adoption, such as by 20 percent per year, could reduce the informal economy by 16-22 percent. This would have an even more pronounced effect on tax revenue-for example, increasing it by up to 56 percent in Nigeria.

SMBs operate in the informal economy for a variety of reasons. Some perceive company administrative requirements—such as company registration or taxation filing—as being too onerous and too complex. In sectors like <u>manufacturing</u>, <u>wholesale</u> <u>and retail trade</u>, <u>and agriculture</u>, a number of companies operate in the informal economy and use cash in a deliberate attempt to remain invisible and outside of government reach. No corporate tax or income tax, and no social contributions, are generated by the government from these "shadow" companies.

Other SMBs are registered entities that use cash to underreport revenue and to pay wages to their employees—avoiding taxes in the process. This phenomenon is more prevalent in countries with high rates of corporate and personal income tax. In the U.K., HMRC<sup>3</sup> estimates that <u>small and medium</u> <u>businesses accounted for 60 percent of the tax gap</u> in 2021—the difference between what taxpayers owe on legal source income and what they pay. At times of <u>economic downturn</u>, the informal economy may become especially attractive as individuals and businesses attempt to make up for loss of income from the official economy. Greater adoption of digital payments is an important lever to combat the informal economy. In 2017, <u>65</u> <u>percent of government policies</u> to combat the informal economy focused on digital payments instead of punitive enforcement measures. These are motivated by success stories such as India's, where demonetization contributed to an increase in electronic payments. While in March 2014, the number of income tax returns filed was <u>38mn</u>, this figure has grown to <u>68.6mn</u> in 2017–2018. In a press release, the Indian Ministry of Finance states that the demonetization brought <u>more formalization of the</u> <u>economy, more money in the system, higher tax</u> <u>revenue, higher expenditure, and higher growth</u>.

<sup>3</sup> Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs, the U.K. government department that is responsible for calculating and collecting taxes.





### The informal economy

The informal economy—or "shadow economy" accounts for between <u>10 and 50+ percent of GDP</u>. <u>More than 60 percent of the world's employed</u> population—about 2bn workers—operate in the informal economy. Despite being largely invisible, the informal economy does damage in a variety of ways.

For **governments**, it distorts the view of actual economic activity, lowers tax revenue, and leaves less money to be invested in public programs.

For **businesses**, it creates unfair competition and penalizes companies operating in the formal economy for adhering to the rules.

For **employees**, it creates unfavorable working conditions, including lower wages, exploitation, and unfair treatment with little to no recourse.

Consumers who use goods and services from the informal economy are at risk because of the lack of adherence to quality and safety standards.

"A 5 percent increase in digital payments per year for five consecutive years could reduce the informal economy by 11—13 percent"

# **5. Public policy tools to support digitalization of SMB payments**

While the benefits from digitalization are compelling, the path to get there is rocky. A 2021 SMB survey of micro, small, and medium businesses put government assistance in a form of better digital payments in the top three forms of aid received as a response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The group of small companies with 11–50 employees indicated that they prefer it over loans.

SMB digitalization can stimulate innovation, reduce poverty, induce economic growth, and boost employment. As such, several countries have made this topic part of their national strategy. Saudi Arabia's Vision 2030 is an economic blueprint designed to curtail the country's dependence on oil. It promotes SMB digitalization with the goal to <u>increase SMB</u> <u>contributions to the economy from 20 to 35 percent</u>. Similarly, in <u>Oman's Vision 2040 and e.Oman 2030,</u> <u>the state promotes digitalization and innovation</u>, as well as digital startups, including through leveraging disruptive technologies. An important initial step toward SMB digitalization is the build-up of digital payment infrastructure. Some countries have taken bold action to support the adoption of cashless payments among SMBs by stimulating both vendors and consumers.

#### Figure 1

Public policy tools to support digitalization of SMB payments



# **5.1. Creating conditions for a robust, open payments infrastructure**

For many countries, digitalization of SMB payments begins with a PoS terminal—essential for accepting and processing digital payments. But the success of payments digitalization must be underpinned by government support to set the conditions that foster robust competition, improved security, innovation, and open access to the payment system.



There are compelling examples of this approach all over the world. Poland launched an initiative to cover both the fixed and transaction fees of PoS terminals for SMBs and public entities with large success: in four years, more than 500,000 devices were installed (for detailed results see Case study #1 - Cashless Poland: accelerating digital payment acceptance). In Serbia, the National Cashless Payments Initiative was set to equip 4,000 SMBs with PoS terminals in 2022 after subsidizing the merchant service charge<sup>4</sup> (MSC). And in Malaysia, with the establishment of the Market Development Fund to fund the deployment of PoS terminals, the number of terminals more than doubled from 233,248 terminals (eight terminals per 1,000 inhabitants) in 2014 to 514,818 terminals in 2018 (16 terminals per 1,000 inhabitants)<sup>5</sup>. The number of merchants that accept mobile payments also saw an increase over this period with over 65,000 registrations recorded at the end of 2018.

#### $\star$

As modern acceptance solutions emerge, governments are incorporating them into their initiatives. In **Vietnam**, the Ministry of Industry and <u>Trade partnered with Visa to provide farmers with Tap</u> to Phone technology that transformed their mobile phones into payment machines. This development is crucial for two reasons: first, <u>the smartphone</u> penetration among the population in Vietnam was over 68 percent in 2021; second, through Visa Rapid Seller Onboarding, the new merchant onboarding is much faster than for traditional PoS devices reducing setup time from weeks to minutes.



Legislative changes could also create the foundation for nationwide acceptance and adoption, depending on the local culture and stage of digital payment adoption. Saudi Arabia passed a law in 2020 that obliges retail outlets to provide an option for digital payments: non-compliant business-owners face immediate and severe financial penalties, which increase if the violation is repeated. As a result, in May 2022, only <u>92 violations were found among the 6,500</u> businesses investigated. In **Belgium**, legislation requires that all consumer-facing companies offer their customers at least one way to pay for their purchases electronically from July 1, 2022 onwards. Businesses that fail to comply face a fine of up to USD80,800 (EUR80,000) or 4 percent of the infringer's total annual turnover<sup>6</sup> if this amount exceeds USD80.800 (EUR80.000).

To help develop the acceptance infrastructure, it is important that governments launch supporting initiatives. Educational programs not only increase awareness of the benefits of digital payments, but also reassure small and rural business owners that the required level of technical proficiency is within their reach.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Merchant Service Charge is a fee paid by the merchant to the acquiring financial institution (e.g., the institution providing the PoS terminal and processing the credit and debit card transactions on behalf of the card issuers).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The <u>number of terminals in Malaysia as of August 2022 equaled 803,251</u>, which is equivalent to 25 PoS terminals per 1,000 inhabitants. <sup>6</sup> Sales revenue.

#### Case study #1

### **Cashless Poland: accelerating digital payment acceptance**

Country
Poland

#### **Initiative timeline**

Launched: 2017 (functionally, began to operate in 2018) Status: Ongoing

#### **Key information:**

Scope: 500,000 PoS terminals disbursed as of February 2022

Impact: Number of PoS terminals growing from 625,000 in 2017 to 1.12mn in 2021, with around 67 percent of all merchants utilizing PoS terminals in Poland doing so through technology distributed through the initiative

Despite advances, digital payments constituted a minority of all transactions in Poland in 2015. At the time, the share of digital transactions in the value of all card payments was around 38 percent-a result of low penetration of PoS terminals among merchants who forced consumers to pay in cash for goods and services in many locations.

The Polish Ministry of Finance and the Polish Bank Association found that two major factors were holding back adoption of PoS terminals among merchants: transaction fees and the cost of the terminals themselves. In a bid to overcome these barriers, the Cashless Poland initiative was born. Cashless Poland brought together the government, issuers, acquirers, Visa, and Mastercard to offer merchants a free-of-charge time-limited PoS trial-an opportunity that was later extended to public entities. Issuers and card companies covered part of the costs of the initiative based on the number of debit card transactions, while acquirers contributed based on the value of debit card transactions at PoS terminals. The government helped establish the rules of the program and supported it through a clear commitment to a cashless economy.

In its first year alone, Cashless Poland surpassed expectations, distributing more than 100,000 devices-two-thirds of all terminals added to the market in 2018. After four years, around 350,000 participants had joined the cashless economy through the program. To date, according to an industry expert, 60-80 percent of new machines on the market were installed through the initiative.

With approximately 500,000 devices installed through the end of 2021, the program has almost doubled the number of PoS terminals in Poland, going from 625,000 in 2017 to 1.12mn in 2021. The program's great success led to extending it to the public sector.

The simplicity of the program is a key factor in its success: since March 1, 2022, any business with no payment terminals installed in the previous 12 months is eligible to receive one PoS machine at no MSC for a cumulative amount of up to USD8,670 (PLN42,000). To participate, merchants and public entities alike must contact their preferred terminal supplier from the list of leads available on the Cashless Poland website. Upon clearance, they can operate a PoS terminal for five months<sup>7</sup> at no transaction costs. Once the free period ends, merchants can continue using the equipment according to the fees set by the acquirer-an option that is currently taken up by more than 90 percent of participating companies.

The program offers benefits for businesses and the government alike. PoS terminals allow businesses to remain competitive-reaching customers that increasingly prefer to pay without cash. During the COVID-19 pandemic, the value of cashless transactions<sup>8</sup> in Poland increased from 48 percent of all card transactions in 2019 to 54 percent in 2021. Given the growing popularity of digital payments, their acceptance by SMBs is quickly becoming a necessity, rather than an optional extra. Due to its success, the Cashless Poland program has been extended until 2025, and may continue beyond this date.

Originally PoS terminals were offered free of charge for 12 months, but the timeframe was decreased to five months so that a larger number of SMBs could be addressed with the same amount of funds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Card transactions that exclude cash withdrawals from ATM/banks and cashback.



#### **Challenges overcome**



Cost efficiency









# **5.2. Utilizing fiscal incentives to encourage digital payment adoption**

Economies that already have solid acceptance infrastructure—but a comparatively low number of digital payments—can use tax rebates, discounts on transactions, and tax lotteries to encourage the use of digital payments.

#### **Tax rebates for individuals**

By lowering taxes for individuals who use digital payments, governments can incentivize more frequent and more extensive use of cashless payments as a proportion of personal spend. The government gives up part of its tax revenue, but the use of digital payments increases the transparency of transactions and improves tax compliance in the process.



For example, studies conducted in **Greece** show that a <u>1 percentage point increase in the share of</u> <u>card payments in private consumption results in</u> <u>approximately 1 percent higher revenue through</u> increased compliance (see: Case study #2 – Tax rebates drive adoption of digital payments among citizens).



Other countries have also used tax rebates to positive effect. The Tax Incentive for Electronically Traceable Payments was introduced by the **South Korean** tax <u>authorities in 1999</u><sup>9</sup> to promote payments made using credit cards, debit cards, and electronic cash receipts in business to consumer transactions. The program offered tax deductions from taxable labor income. Through an <u>automated process</u>, wage earners can claim their tax deductions by confirming prefilled credit card transactions data forms provided by tax authorities. The incentive generated <u>total gross effect</u>.

of USD2.7bn (KRW3.4tn) for the Korean government. Overall, the <u>net gain equates to USD1.3bn (KRW1.4tn)</u>, generating a 4.2 percent increase in personal income tax collected.

#### **Discounts on transaction values**

Besides offering an income tax refund—typically just once a year—governments may also use more immediate measures, such as deducting value-added tax (VAT) from transactions made using digital payments. Many governments in Latin America offered such discounts both for credit and debit card transactions at the moment of purchase in the last two decades.

۰	

In **Argentina**, the government rewarded its citizens for using debit cards with a <u>discount of 5 percentage</u> <u>points<sup>10</sup> up to a maximum USD108 (ARS1,000)</u> on every transaction between 2001 and 2017. In Colombia, the government ran a program between 2004 and 2014 <u>granting a VAT rebate of two</u> <u>percentage points for card purchases</u>.

\*

The measure can also apply to non-residents—an increasingly important benefit in the post-COVID world when countries are focusing on rebuilding their tourism sectors. To speed up the return of Argentinian tourists to **Uruguay**, <u>authorities offered a 22 percent</u> <u>VAT discount on transactions made on foreign cards</u> in the hospitality sector in 2022. Although impact estimates are not yet available, previous initiatives have shown positive results. A study based on data from Uruguay about the effect of financial incentives on the adoption of electronic payment technology shows that <u>the introduction of VAT rebates is</u> <u>associated with a 50 percent increase in the number of card transactions and an almost 30 percent increase in the volume of card transactions</u>.

"To speed up the return of Argentinian tourists to Uruguay, authorities offered a 22 percent VAT discount on transactions made on foreign cards in the hospitality sector in 2022"

<sup>9</sup> The program launched in 1999 and, with several changes, is still operational today.

#### **Tax lotteries**

Fiscal lotteries offer governments another way to accelerate the adoption of digital payments. Citizens enter by supplying proof of digital payment for their purchases and winners receive financial rewards. Lotteries were utilized in several European countries, attracting high levels of participation.



The Government of Serbia launched a public lottery as part of a campaign to strengthen the tax culture and raise awareness of the informal economy, encouraging citizens to take fiscal slips with every purchase made by card payment. More than 100mn receipts were delivered to tax authorities as a result, with an estimated <u>41 percent of the population</u> participating. In the same period, the number of card transactions increased by almost 19 percent.

In Romania, the government invited people to take part in a monthly raffle as part of a drive to improve VAT compliance. After its first iterations in 2015, the Ministry of Public Finance reported a VAT increase of 5.85 percent. The lottery's success saw it extended by five years.



In Brazil, the state has been running a tax lottery since 2007 and studies estimate that it allowed authorities to raise collected tax revenue net of rewards by 9.3 percent<sup>10</sup>.

While these measures have an indirect impact on SMBs, they offer an important direct benefit: they can motivate small merchants to install PoS terminals and accept digital payments.



<sup>10</sup> Calculations without including the additional administrative (advertisings, salaries, etc.) and welfare costs on final consumers (time needed to enroll, get the tickets, etc.).

KEARNEY VISA

#### Case study #2

### Tax rebates drive adoption of digital payments among citizens

Country	Initiative timeline	Key information:
Greece	Launched: 2017	Scope: All Greek residents ( <u>~10.7mn</u> )
10 mm	Status: Ongoing	Impact:
		# digital transactions <u>grew from 1,067mn in 2017 to 2,146mn in 2021</u> (e.g., from 99 transactions per person in 2015 to 201 in 2021 <sup>11</sup> )
		# PoS terminals <u>grew from 544,091 in 2017 to 836,619 in 2021</u> (e.g., from 51 PoS devices per 1,000 persons in 2017 to 78 in 2021 <sup>11</sup> )
	(e.g., from 99 transactions per person in 2015 to 201 in 2021 <sup>11</sup> ) # PoS terminals grew from 544,091 in 2017 to 836,619 in 2021	

Greece has long been known as a cash economy due to its aging population, large number of people without internet access, and limited incentives to use digital payments. In 2016, <u>75 percent of total</u> <u>transaction value in Greece was in cash—compared</u> <u>to an EU average of 54 percent</u>—allowing the informal economy to thrive. With roughly between <u>1.9 percent</u> and <u>4.7 percent of annual GDP revenue estimated to</u> <u>be lost to personal income tax evasion and an</u> <u>additional 3.5 percent of GDP to VAT fraud</u>, the government was prompted to accelerate the use of digital payments.

Tax rebates—also known as Electronic Consumption Tax Discount (ECTD)—were offered to citizens whose share of electronic payments as percentage of their taxable income <u>passed a certain threshold</u>. Under the ECTD, part of citizens' income would be tax free, provided it was spent through digital payments <u>including cards and online banking</u>. The discount could be applied to nearly any category of everyday spending, <u>except loan installments</u>, <u>purchase of real</u> <u>estate and vehicles</u>, or investment in stocks.

The value to be spent through digital payments is determined based on the individuals' income. <u>A</u> resident earning up to USD10,500 (EUR10,000) per year needs to spend 10 percent digitally, while those earning USD31,500 (EUR30,000) and above must spend 20 percent<sup>12</sup>. If this amount is not reached, individuals face a penalty: <u>a 22 percent tax on the</u> difference between the minimum qualifying value and the value actually spent through cashless methods.

To track the spend of each taxpayer, the Greek government uses data collected through financial institutions. <u>Greek banks send aggregate data on</u> <u>digital payments to the tax authority</u>, which match individual tax IDs with account holders' IBANs<sup>13</sup>. These are then used to return an annual use of digital payments for consumption. The <u>value appears</u> <u>directly in the tax returns of the following year</u>, with taxpayers able either to accept or modify the pre-filled amounts.

The simplicity of this approach gave people a strong incentive to use the tax rebate: out of the 50,000 taxpayers selected randomly in a study, 73 percent passed the threshold for a full tax discount based on actual electronic spending (as reported by the banks to the tax authorities). The number of qualifying individuals increased to 92 percent when taking into account those who made changes to their tax returns in order to fulfill gualification requirements. This ECTD translated into a widespread use of digital payments throughout the nation, with the number of digital payments growing from 1.07bn in 2017 to 2.15bn in 2021-effectively doubling in this four-year period. Close to 70 percent of these transactions were conducted through cards in 2021<sup>14</sup>. This shift also saw businesses adjust-increasing the number of PoS terminals from 544,091 in 2017 to 836,619 in 2021.

The shift toward cashless payments has benefited citizens and the government alike. Between 2016 and 2019, the Greek citizens expressing preference for cash over alternative methods of payments fell by 18 percentage points. The government boosted its ability to monitor the flow of funds in the economy and, in turn, increased its tax revenues. <u>VAT revenues rose from USD16.8bn (EUR12.7bn) to USD17.2bn</u> (EUR15.4bn) from 2014 to 2019—an increase of over 21 percent.

<sup>12</sup> <u>Minimum spend rate with electronic transaction and card-based payment instruments</u> (progressive application): for amounts between EUR 1-10.000 = 10%; between EUR 10.000,01-30.000 = 15%; EUR 30.000,01 and above = 20%; and up to a maximum amount of EUR 30.000. <sup>13</sup> International Bank Account Number.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Kearney calculation based on ECB data.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Kearney calculation based on <u>ECB data</u> about number of digital transactions (2,146mn) and number of card payments (1,492.8) in Greece in 2021.



#### **Challenges overcome**



Cost efficiency



Competitiveness



Reach





# **5.3. Democratizing SMB access to lending**

Government loans and grants to SMBs is not a new development. But the COVID-19 pandemic and slowing economic growth heightened SMBs' exposure to a variety of risks making rapid access to funding more critical than ever. Yet, many SMBs do not meet the minimum criteria to secure funding through the banking system, leaving them in a precarious situation.

## 

Studies estimate that without government support, the failure rate of SMBs during the COVID-19 pandemic would have increased by an estimated 9.1 percentage points. In the U.K., SMBs in the retail, hospitality, and leisure sectors received cash grants of between USD12,800 (GBP10,000) and USD32,000 (GBP25,000) during the first few months of the pandemic. Canada eased the accessibility of loan schemes through expansion of the group of potential beneficiaries, simplification and acceleration of loan procedures, and offer of more favorable terms and reduced interest rates. In addition, some nations provided SMBs with grants and loans specifically designed to be spent on digitalization measures: Germany provided funds of up to USD58,500 (EUR50,000) for SMBs willing to digitalize, covering up to 40-70 percent of the amount.

#### 

Despite governments' best intentions, the financing gap for SMBs is often too large to be tackled through public help alone. For example, in the **U.K.**, the total value of loans needed to support small firms is estimated to be as high as USD29.2bn (GBP22bn). In the **EU**, among those SMBs that judged bank loans to be relevant for their funding, <u>8 percent faced</u> obstacles to obtain a loan, compared to slightly more than 4 percent of large enterprises. The credit gap is even larger in emerging markets and developing economies, where it is <u>estimated at USD4.5tn</u> as of 2017 and represents the <u>unmet financing needs of 21mn SMBs</u>.

There are a number of reasons for the large SMB financing gap, especially relevant for emerging markets and developing economies. <u>On the company</u> <u>side</u>, there are often discrepancies between the financial data reported by SMBs and the actual state of financial affairs. Prevalence of cash transactions means that the reported data is often different from the true sales and profitability. Lack of formalized bookkeeping systems results in companies qualifying for much lower loan amounts than what is needed. Collateral requirements are too high for many micro and small enterprises. According to an OECD study, <u>SMBs are usually charged higher interest rates</u> <u>compared to large enterprises</u> due to their inherently riskier profiles as borrowers.

To address the financing gap for SMBs, fintechs have started to analyze companies' credit risk in innovative ways. They leverage digital payments data often obtained from PoS transactions in order to gain insights into the operational performance and technology sophistication of SMBs and as a result, they become more efficient in screening high-versus lower-quality borrowers. Fintech lenders screen borrowers more efficiently when borrowers use more cashless payments that produce transferable and verifiable information. Mobile banking, (international) mobile payments, and the use of alternative data for credit risk assessment can significantly reduce information asymmetries and transaction costs, reducing SMB structural barriers in accessing finance. Knowing that a higher use of cashless payments leads to a higher likelihood of obtaining a loan can create a virtuous cycle in which SMBs adopt digital payments, creating demand-side pressure. Larger use of verifiable cashless payments (relative to cash) predicts a higher chance of loan approval, a lower interest rate, and lower default.

This demonstrates the tangible value of payment infrastructure and digital payment adoption. By supporting digital payment adoption and penetration, the public sector can also create indirect benefits for the SMB sector—for example, by spearheading better access to finance, especially for smaller companies, as a means to support economic growth and sector resilience.

KEARNEY VISA

#### **5.4. Facilitating SMB access to public procurement and digitalizing SMB-initiated payments**

The acceptance of digital payments by SMBs gives consumers a more efficient and convenient way to pay for goods and services. But the use of digital payments by SMBs to make payments to the public sector, suppliers, and other business partners is key too. It also empowers SMBs to optimize and automate their internal operations—from e-invoicing of suppliers and business partners through more efficient accounting and inventory holding to easier filing and reconciliation of taxes and social security for employees.

According to a Visa study, <u>83 percent of SMBs agree</u> <u>that digital payments help them manage their</u> <u>business more effectively</u>. In this context, there are three key measures that governments can use to incentivize and support the digitalization of SMBinitiated payments:

# Government as a role model for adoption of digital payments

Given the magnitude of public sector payments, governments have the opportunity to influence through their own practice the way in which others pay. Mandatory acceptance of digital payments or adoption of e-invoicing are measures that permeate through the entire economy and foster adoption by companies working with the public sector such as suppliers or subcontractors.

## 

In **Mexico**, the mandatory e-invoicing implementation brought an <u>estimated 4.2mn micro-enterprises into</u> <u>the formal economy</u> and **Australia** expects that e-invoicing could result in <u>benefits to the Australian</u> <u>economy of USD20bn (AUD28bn) over 10 years</u>.

# Simpler and less costly access to public procurement

As the largest buyer in each country, governments have the opportunity to improve SMB access to public tenders—for example, by breaking up large contracts into smaller lots; by ensuring bid eligibility requirements (such as company sales revenue, years in business, or previous references with the public sector) do not automatically disqualify SMBs; and primarily, by reducing the administrative burden for SMBs to qualify and bid for public tenders.



Especially government procurement e-marketplaces can make a significant difference, such as the Indian Government e-Marketplace (GeM): 57 percent of the total business on GeM has come through SMBs and over 6 percent has been contributed by women entrepreneurs. E-procurement and a 2014 change of the EU regulatory framework to foster SMB involvement in public tenders have contributed to the over 60 percent share of public contracts awarded to SMBs in 15 out of 27 EU member states, even more than 90 percent in Latvia and Malta. What's more, the public sector can support SMBs once they become public sector vendors. Many SMBsparticularly those for whom cashflow is a critical factor-benefit from being paid faster-for example, by card-with funds received in as few as two or three days.

# Grants, tax rebates, and subsidized loans for digitalization

The <u>cost of technology is one of the key factors</u> <u>deterring SMBs</u> with small budgets and limited resources from adopting new digital tools<sup>15</sup>. To help eliminate this obstacle, governments have set up specialized programs to support SMB digital enablement.



The government of **Malaysia** provides a 50 percent matching grant of up to USD1,160 (MYR5,000) per company to SMBs interested in digitalizing their operations in one of seven areas, including e-commerce, e-PoS, and ERP<sup>16</sup> for accounting and tax. Likewise, **Australia**'s <u>Technology Investment</u> <u>Boost</u> program allows small businesses to claim a 20 percent tax deduction for expenses on digital technology with an annual cap of USD71,000 (AUD100,000), as part of budget measures expected to cost the government USD1.14bn (AUD1.6bn) in tax revenue.

<sup>15</sup> Along with technical skills and efficiency, adoption challenges, and lack of organizational and governmental support.
<sup>16</sup> Enterprise resource planning.



## 6. Takeaways

SMBs that digitalize their businesses and their payments stand to reap some significant benefits. Yet, a sizable number pay their suppliers with checks, provide discounts to clients for cash payments, and spend hours trying to organize hundreds of paper payment slips and invoices. The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted the importance and benefits of SMB digitalization in reducing sector vulnerability and improving resilience. Going forward, the lessons learned from the pandemic can be translated into clear actions for national governments:

# Create a supportive environment for SMB growth and prosperity

Governments can play a central role in driving the digital transformation of SMBs. A selective, concerted, and widely communicated nationwide strategy for promoting SMB digitalization is the intuitive starting point. But governments must consider basing their strategies on clearly defined goals, bold vet realistic commitments from the public sector to support SMBs, and regularly tracked success measures. This means creating an environment where entrepreneurship is encouraged and supported, and where small businesses can not only survive, but thrive. Clear commitment to the SMB sector-for example, through more efficient public services, supportive regulation and tax regimes, and lower cost to participate in public procurement-not only can strengthen the sector, but also improve the prosperity of all stakeholders in the economy.

# 02

## Be proactive advocates for the adoption of digital payments

Governments are responsible for supporting the adoption of digital tools and reducing the barriers to their adoption—and they have the power to make it happen. Governments oversee the development of digital infrastructure needed to enable the digitalization of SMBs. They can also create incentives for SMBs to try digital tools without risks to their business, using subsidized credit, tax incentives, or grants to generate renewed momentum for business digitalization. They can use legislation and their influential position in the economy to drive digitalization-such as mandatory electronic invoicing for G2B and B2B transactions or prohibiting cash transactions above a certain limit-creating legal certainty over the digitalization course and leading good practices in the economy by example. And governments need to work proactively with the payments ecosystem to develop complimentary policy that sets the conditions for innovation, open access, high security, and resilience for all participants. Public and private sector collaboration is critical to a well-formed policy platform. Through such measures, governments can implement a two-way push-pull approach-carrot and stick-to drive the digitalization of the SMB sector.

# 03

## Design ongoing education and training programs on the benefits of digitalization

Initiatives that educate SMBs on the advantages of digitalizing their business play a crucial role in driving digital engagement. Educational and training opportunities for SMBs about sector-relevant digital tools and skills can help them identify the best digital technologies for their business, while understanding the requirements and costs of implementation. Supporting SMBs on the digitalization journey—from the adoption of their first digital tool to a holistic digital transformation of their business—represents a significant opportunity for improving productivity and growth in the SMB sector and in the entire economy.

# **Bibliography**

All data sourced and referenced within the paper was checked against the appropriate sites and was available and current at the time of publication.

Adian, Ikmal; Doumbia, Djeneba; Gregory, Neil; Ragoussis, Alexandros; Reddy, Aarti; Timmis, Jonathan. (2020). Small and Medium Enterprises in the Pandemic: Impact, Responses and the Role of Development Finance. Policy Research Working Paper;No. 9414. World Bank, Washington, DC. © World Bank. Available at: <<u>https://openknowl-edge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/34552</u>> License: CC BY 3.0 IGO [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Aga, Gemechu; Francis, David C.; Rodriguez Meza, Jorge. (2015). SMEs, Age, and Jobs: A Review of the Literature, Metrics, and Evidence. Policy Research Working Paper;No. 7493. World Bank, Washington, DC. © World Bank. License: CC BY 3.0 IGO. Available at: <<u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/23455</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Agarwal, Sumit; Qian, Wenlan; Yeung, Bernard Yin; Zou, Xin. (2018). Mobile Wallet and Entrepreneurial Growth. Available at SSRN: <a href="https://ssrn.com/abstract=3298266">http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3298266</a>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Airbnb. (2021). What makes Airbnb, Airbnb. Available at: <<u>https://news.airbnb.com/what-makes-airbnb-airbnb/</u>>[Accessed 6 December 2022].

Apasrawirote, Darlin; Yawised, Kritcha. (2021). The Factors Influencing the Adoption of E-Payment System by SMEs. Available at: <<u>https://www.ijicc.net/images/Vol\_15/Iss\_8/15828\_Darlin\_2021\_E1\_R.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Arslan, Ahmad; Kamara, Samppa; Zahoor, Nadia; Rani, Pushpa; Khan; Zaheer. (2022). Survival strategies adopted by microbusinesses during COVID-19: an exploration of ethnic minority restaurants in northern Finland. International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research / Volume 28 Issue 9. Available at: <<u>https://www.emerald.com/</u> insight/content/doi/10.1108/IJEBR-05-2021-0396/full/html> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Australian Ministers of Education, Skills and Employment Portfolio | Ministers' Media Center. (2022). Digital and Skills Tax Boost for Small Business. Available at: <<u>https://ministers.dese.gov.au/robert/digital-and-skills-tax-boost-small-business</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Australian Government | The Treasury. (2018). e-Invoicing. Available at: <<u>https://treasury.gov.au/consultation/e-in-voicing</u>> [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Australian Taxation Office (2022). Small Business Technology Investment Boost and Small Business Skills and Training Boost. Available at: <<u>https://www.ato.gov.au/General/New-legislation/In-detail/Direct-taxes/Income-tax-for-businesses/Small-Business-Technology-Investment-Boost-and-Small-Business-Skills-and-Training-Boost/>[Accessed 6 December 2022].</u>

Bank Negara Malaysia and Department of Statistics. (2022). Malaysia's Payment Statistics: T5 - EFTPOS Terminal & ATM. Available at: <<u>https://www.bnm.gov.my/documents/20124/57659/T5%20-%20EFTPOS%20Terminal%20&%20</u> <u>ATM.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Bank Negara Malaysia. (2018). The Financial Stability and Payment Systems Report 2018. Available at: <<u>https://www.bnm.gov.my/documents/20124/856365/fs2018\_book.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Bounie, David; Camara, Youssouf. (2020). Card-sales response to merchant contactless payment acceptance. Journal of Banking & Finance, Volume 119, 2020,105938, ISSN 0378-4266. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbankfin.2020.105938">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbankfin.2020.105938</a>> or <<a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378426620302004">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbankfin.2020.105938</a>> or <<a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378426620302004">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbankfin.2020.105938</a>> or <<a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378426620302004">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378426620302004</a>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Brockmeyer, Anne; Saenz Somarriba, Magaly Vanessa. (2022). Electronic Payment Technology and Tax Compliance: Evidence from Uruguay's Financial Inclusion Reform. Washington, DC: World Bank. © World Bank. License: CC BY 3.0 IGO. Available at: <<u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/37055</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Cashless Poland. (2018). Fundacja Polska Bezgotówkowa zachęca przedsiębiorców do korzystania z bezpłatnych terminali płatniczych. Available at: <<u>https://polskabezgotowkowa.pl/aktualnosci/fundacja-polska-bezgotowkowa-zacheca-przedsiebiorcow-do-korzystania-z-bezplatnych</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Cashless Poland. (2018). Kolejny próg przekroczony: 100 tys. Terminali W Ramach Programu Polska Bezgotówkowa. Available at: <<u>https://polskabezgotowkowa.pl/aktualnosci/kolejny-prog-przekroczony-100-tys-terminali-w-ra-mach-programu-polska-bezgotowkowa</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Cashless Poland. (2020). Porozumienie dotyczące upowszechniania płatności bezgotówkowych w Polsce! Available at: <<u>https://polskabezgotowkowa.pl/aktualnosci/porozumienie-dotyczace-upowszechniania-platnosci-bezgotowkowych-w-polsce</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Cashless Poland. (2021). Wystartowały płatności online w sektorze publicznym. Available at: <<u>https://polskabezgot-owkowa.pl/aktualnosci/wystartowaly-platnosci-online-w-sektorze-publicznym</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Cashless Poland. (2022). Cashless Poland Program. Available at: <<u>https://polskabezgotowkowa.pl</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Cashless Poland. (2022). Mapa Polski Bezgotówkowej – I. kwartał 2022 r. Available at: <<u>https://polskabezgotow-kowa.pl/sites/all/themes/awesomeit/files/dane/Mapa\_Polski\_Bezgotowkowej\_2022Q1\_Snapshot.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Cashless Poland. (2022). Cashless Poland FAQ. Available at: <<u>https://polskabezgotowkowa.pl/en#faq</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Cashless Poland. (n.d.). Terminal suppliers in Cashless Poland Program. Available at: <<u>https://polskabezgotowkowa.</u> <u>pl/#wybierz-agenta</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Cashless.pl. (2018). Prawie połowa małych firm dzięki akceptacji kart deklaruje wyższe przychody. Badanie Mastercard. Available at: <<u>https://www.cashless.pl/5030-Karty-wyzsze-przychody-badanie-Mastercard</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Central Bank of Nigeria. (n.d.). Cash-less Nigeria. Available at: <<u>https://www.cbn.gov.ng/cashless/</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Chakravorti, Bhaskar; Mazzotta, Benjamin. Institute for Business in the Global Context. (2013). The Cost Of Cash In The United States. Available at: <<u>https://sites.tufts.edu/digitalplanet/files/2020/06/Cost-of-Cash-US.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Civic Economics. (2021). The Local Multiplier Effect. Available at: <<u>https://amiba.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/</u> <u>The-Local-Multiplier-Effect.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Connected Commerce Council. (2021). European Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises (SMEs): Transformation, Innovation, and Resilience During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Available at: <<u>https://digitallydriven.connectedcouncil.org/europe/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2021/03/Digitally-Driven-Europe-FINAL-1.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Cramer-Flood, Ethan at Insider Intelligence. (2022). Global Ecommerce Forecast 2022. Available at: <<u>https://www.insiderintelligence.com/content/global-ecommerce-forecast-2022</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Department of Statistics Malaysia. (2022). Micro, Small & Medium Enterprises (MSMEs) Performance 2021. <<u>https://www.dosm.gov.my/v1/index.php?r=column/cthemeByCat&cat=159&bul\_id=aFRNc2Zid295Tm1yczN5dWJNS1N-wQT09&menu\_id=TE5CRUZCblh4ZTZMODZlbmk2aWRRQT09</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Department of Statistics Singapore. (2021). Singapore Economy. Available at: <<u>https://www.singstat.gov.sg/</u> modules/infographics/economy> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

European Central Bank. (2017). The use of cash by households in the euro area. Available at: <<u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/pdf/scpops/ecb.op201.en.pdf?b41faedd069680dd3290807c7be12fe5</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

European Central Bank. (2020). Study on the payment attitudes of consumers in the euro area (SPACE). Available at: <<u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/pdf/other/ecb.spacereport202012-bb2038bbb6.en.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

European Central Bank. (2022). Greece. Payment card functions and accepting devices. Available at: <<u>https://sdw.ecb.europa.eu/reports.do?node=100000859</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

European Central Bank. (2022). Greece. Payments per type of payment service involving non-MFIs - page 1. Available at: <<u>https://sdw.ecb.europa.eu/reports.do?node=100000860</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

European Central Bank. (2022). Study on New Digital Payment Methods. Available at: <<u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/</u>paym/digital\_euro/investigation/profuse/shared/files/dedocs/ecb.dedocs220330\_report.en.pdf> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

European Central Bank. (2022). Survey on the Access to Finance of Enterprises in the euro area. Available at: <<u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/stats/accesstofinancesofenterprises/pdf/ecb.safe2021H2~bba4474fd3.en.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

European Commission. (2022). Study on the application of the interchange fee regulation. Available at: <<u>https://</u>copenhageneconomics.com/publication/study-on-the-application-of-the-interchange-fee-regulation/> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

European Commission. (2022) SME Performance Review. Available at: <<u>https://single-market-economy.ec.europa.</u> <u>eu/smes/sme-strategy/sme-performance-review\_en#paragraph\_885</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

European Commission. (n.d). Single Market Scoreboard Public Procurement. Available at: <<u>https://single-market-scoreboard.ec.europa.eu/policy\_areas/public-procurement\_en</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

European Commission. (n.d.) European Platform Undeclared Work – Good practice fiche. Available at: <<u>https://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docId=17873&langId=en</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

European Commission. (n.d.) SME definition. Available at: <<u>https://single-market-economy.ec.europa.eu/smes/</u> <u>sme-definition\_en</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

European Union. (n.d.). Countries using the euro. Available at: <<u>https://european-union.europa.eu/institu-tions-law-budget/euro/countries-using-euro\_en</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Eurostat. (2019). Greece. Available at: <<u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/12743486/14207633/EL-EN.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Eurostat. (2022). Database – Digital economy and society. Available at: <<u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/</u> <u>digital-economy-and-society/data/database</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Fairlie, Robert W. (2020). The Impact of Covid-19 on Small Business Owners: Evidence of Early-Stage Losses from the April 2020 Current Population Survey. Available at: <<u>https://www.nber.org/system/files/working\_papers/</u>w27309/w27309.pdf> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

FPS Economy. (2022). Obligation to offer Offer an electronic Electronic means Means of paymentPayment. Available at: <<u>https://economie.fgov.be/en/themes/sales/payments/obligation-offer-offer</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Georgakopoulos, Thodoris. (2016). Tax Evasion in Greece – A Study. Available at: <<u>https://www.dianeosis.org/</u>en/2016/06/tax-evasion-in-greece/> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Ghosh, Pulak; Vallée, Boris; Zeng, Yao. (2021). FinTech Lending and Cashless Payments. Working Paper – Faculty & Research. Harvard Business School. Available at: <<u>https://www.hbs.edu/faculty/Pages/item.aspx?num=59733#</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Gourinchas, Pierre-Olivier; Kalemli-Özcan, Şebnem; Penciakova, Veronika; Sander, Nick. (2021) COVID-19 AND SME FAILURES. Available at: <<u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/conferences/shared/pdf/20211011\_mon\_pol\_conf/</u> <u>Kalemli-OzcanSME\_Failures.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Government of India, Ministry of Finance. (2018). Demonetisation and its impact on Tax collection and Formalisation of the Economy. Available at: <<u>https://pib.gov.in/newsite/PrintRelease.aspx?relid=183178</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Guru'Guay. (2022). Using credit cards in Uruguay: get 22% VAT off. Available at: <<u>https://www.guruguay.com/</u> tax-free-uruguay-credit-card/> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Hallak, Issam; Harasztosi, Peter. (2019). Job Creation in Europe: A firm-level analysis. EUR 29689 EN, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, 2019, ISBN 978-92-76-00775-3, doi:10.2760/590043, JRC115930. Available at: <<u>https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/JRC115930</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Hondroyiannis, George; Papaoikonomou, Dimitrios. (2017). The Effect of Card Payments on Vat Revenue in Greece. Bank of Greece Working Paper No. 225, Available at <<u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=4192695</u> or <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.2139/ssrn.4192695</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022]. IFC. (2018). Financing India's MSMEs. Available at: <<u>https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/dcf9d09d-68ad-4e54-b9b7-614c143735fb/Financing+India%E2%80%99s+MSMEs+-+Estimation+of+Debt+Requirement+of+MSMEs+in+In dia.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CVID=my3Cmzl> [Accessed 6 December 2022].</u>

India Ministry of Commerce & Industry. (2022). Government sets a target of 75% procurement by 15th August and 100% by the end of current financial year for procurement through GeM. Available at: <<u>https://pib.gov.in/</u> <u>PressReleaseIframePage.aspx?PRID=1844060</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Infocomm Media Development Authority (IMDA). (2022). Half of Singapore's hawkers now offering e-payments. Available at: <<u>https://www.imda.gov.sg/Content-and-News/Press-Releases-and-Speeches/Press-Releases/2021/</u> <u>Half-of-Singapores-Hawkers-Now-Offering-E-payments</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Infocomm Media Development Authority (IMDA). (2022). Hawkers Go Digital. Available at: <<u>https://www.imda.gov.</u> <u>sg/How-We-Can-Help/smes-go-digital/Hawkers-Go-Digital</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

International Labour Organization. (ILO). (2013). Is small still beautiful? Available at: <<u>https://www.ilo.org/global/about-the-ilo/newsroom/comment-analysis/WCMS\_218252/lang--en/index.htm</u>.> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

International Labour Organization. (ILO). (2018). Women and men in the informal economy: a statistical picture (third edition). Available at: <<u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/documents/</u>publication/wcms\_626831.pdf> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Kearney. (2021). The economic costs of restricting the cross-border flow of data. Available at: <<u>https://www.kearney.com/documents/3677458/161343923/The+economic+costs+of+restricting+the+cross-border+flow+of+data.pdf/</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Kearney. (2018). Digital Payments and the Global Informal Economy. Available at: <<u>https://www.kearney.com/</u><u>financial-services/digital-payments-and-the-global-informal-economy</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Kodiko. (2016). NOMOS NO. 4446 Government Gazette. Available at: <<u>https://www.kodiko.gr/nomothesia/</u> <u>document/247220/nomos-4446-2016</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Meta Platforms, Inc. (2022). October 2022 Global State of Small Business Report. Available at: <<u>https://datafor-good.facebook.com/dfg/resources/Oct-2022-Global-State-of-Small-Business-Report</u>> [Accessed 21 December 2022].

Meta Platforms, Inc. (Facebook) / OECD / World Bank. (2020). The Future of Business Survey. Available at: <<u>https://about.fb.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Global\_State\_of\_Small\_Business\_Report.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Minicozzi, Joseph; Planetizen. (2012). The Smart Math of Mixed-Use Development. Available at: <<u>https://www.planetizen.com/node/53922</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Ministry of Finance Malaysia. (2021). SME Digitalisation Grant Scheme. Available at: <<u>https://belanjawan2021.</u> <u>treasury.gov.my/manfaat/index.php/en/sme-digi-en</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Moody's Analytics. (2021). The Impact of Payment Cards on Economic Growth. Available at: <<u>https://usa.visa.com/</u> <u>content/dam/VCOM/regional/na/us/visa-everywhere/documents/the-impact-of-payment-cards-on-economic-</u> <u>growth.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Naritomi, Joana. (2019). Consumers as Tax Auditors. American Economic Review Vol. 109 No. 9. Available at: <<u>https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/aer.20160658</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

National Alliance for Local Economic Development (NALED). (2022). Free POS for card and instant payments, pre-application on the Better Way website. Available at: <<u>https://naled.rs/en/vest-besplatan-pos-za-karticna-i-in-stant-placanja-pocela-pretprijava-za-preduzetnike-na-portalu-bolji-nacin-5995</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

National Alliance for Local Economic Development. (NALED). (2018). ИЗВЕШТАЈ О РЕАЛИЗАЦИЈИ И ЕФЕКТИМА НАГРАДНЕ ИГРЕ УЗМИ РАЧУН И ПОБЕДИ 2018. Available at: <<u>https://naled.rs/htdocs/Files/00119/izvestaj-nagrad-na-igra-web.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

National Bank of Poland. (2016). Informacja o kartach płatniczych IV kwartał 2015 r. Available at: <<u>https://www.nbp.</u>pl/systemplatniczy/karty/q\_04\_2015.pdf> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

National Bank of Poland. (2018). Informacja o kartach płatniczych IV kwartał 2017 r. Available at: <<u>https://www.nbp.</u>pl/systemplatniczy/karty/q\_04\_2017.pdf> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

National Bank of Poland. (2019). Informacja o kartach płatniczych IV kwartał 2018 r. Available at: <<u>https://www.nbp.pl/systemplatniczy/karty/q\_04\_2018.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

National Bank of Poland. (2020). Informacja O Kartach płatniczych W IV kwartale 2019 r. – NBP. Available at: <<u>https://www.nbp.pl/systemplatniczy/karty/q\_04\_2019.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

National Bank of Poland. (2022). Informacja o kartach płatniczych IV kwartał 2021 r. Available at: <<u>https://www.nbp.</u>pl/systemplatniczy/karty/q\_04\_2021.pdf> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Newzoo. (2022). Top Countries by Smartphone Users. Available at: <<u>https://newzoo.com/insights/rankings/top-countries-by-smartphone-penetration-and-users</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Nicolaides, Panayiotis. (2021). Income Tax Incentives for Electronic Payments: Evidence from Greece's Electronic Consumption Tax Discount. Available at: <<u>https://panosni.github.io/publication/ectd/ECTD.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

OECD. (2017). Technology Tools to Tackle Tax Evasion and Tax Fraud. Available at: <<u>https://www.oecd.org/tax/</u> <u>crime/technology-tools-to-tackle-tax-evasion-and-tax-fraud.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

OECD. (2020). POLICY OPTIONS TO SUPPORT DIGITALIZATION OF BUSINESS MODELS DURING COVID-19: ANNEX. Available at: <<u>https://www.oecd.org/sti/policy-options-to-support-digitalization-of-business-mod-els-during-covid-19-annex.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

OECD. (2021). "SME digitalisation to "Build Back Better": Digital for SMEs (D4SME) policy paper", OECD SME and Entrepreneurship Papers, No. 31, OECD Publishing, Paris. Available at: <<u>https://doi.org/10.1787/50193089-en</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

OECD. (2021). The Digital Transformation of SMEs. OECD Studies on SMEs and Entrepreneurship, OECD Publishing, Paris. Available at: <<u>https://doi.org/10.1787/bdb9256a-en</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

OECD. (2022). Financing SMEs and Entrepreneurs 2022: An OECD Scoreboard, OECD Publishing, Paris. Available at: <<u>https://doi.org/10.1787/e9073a0f-en</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

OECD. (2022). Entrepreneurship - Enterprises by business size - OECD Data. Available at: <<u>https://data.oecd.org/</u> <u>entrepreneur/enterprises-by-business-size.htm</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

OECD.stat. (2022). Revenue Statistics - OECD countries: Comparative tables. Available at: <<u>https://stats.oecd.org/</u> index.aspx?DataSetCode=REV#> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Official Journal of the European Union. (2014). DIRECTIVE 2014/24/EU OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL. Available at: <<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32014L0024</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Oyelami, Lukman O.; Adebiyi, Sulaimon O.; Adekunle, Babatunde S. (2020) Electronic payment adoption and consumers' spending growth: empirical evidence from Nigeria. Futur Bus J 6, 14. Available at: <<u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s43093-020-00022-z</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Payment System Regulator. (2020). Market review into the supply of card-acquiring services. Available at: <<u>https://www.psr.org.uk/media/ovrdtg2r/psr-card-acquiring-market-review-interim-report-september-2020.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Polish Bank Association. (2021). Polacy w większości płacą bezgotówkowo, ale w sprawie przyszłości gotówki są podzieleni. Available at: <<u>https://zbp.pl/Aktualnosci/Wydarzenia/Polacy-w-wiekszosci-placa-bezgotowkowo</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Public First. (2020). Google's Economic Impact in Europe. Available at: <<u>https://googleimpactreport.publicfirst.</u> <u>co.uk/wp-content/uploads/europe\_assets/Google\_Impact\_Europe.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Reserve Bank of Australia. (2020). The Cost of Card Payments for Merchants. Available at: <<u>https://www.rba.gov.au/</u>publications/bulletin/2020/mar/the-cost-of-card-payments-for-merchants.html> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Resilient Cities Network, Visa. (2022). Urban Mobility: Digital Technology for an Open Payments System Metropolitan Area of Guadalajara, Jalisco (Mexico). Available at: <<u>https://resilientcitiesnetwork.org/downloadable\_resources/Programs/Digital\_Solutions\_For\_Urban\_Resillience\_In\_Latin\_America.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Resilient Cities Network. (2020). Visa and the Global Resilient Cities Network announce the "Resilient Cities Shaping a Digital World" program to Advance Digital Transformation in Latin America and the Caribbean. Available at: <<u>https://resilientcitiesnetwork.org/press-release-8/</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Resilient Cities Network. (n.d.). Home - Resilient Cities Network. Available at: <<u>https://resilientcitiesnetwork.org/</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Saudi Arabia Ministry of Commerce. (2020). Mc, Obliging All Retail Outlets To Provide E-Payment Systems As From Today, As Per The National Anti-Commercial Concealment Program. Available at: <<u>https://mc.gov.sa/en/mediacen-ter/News/Pages/25-08-20-01.aspx</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Saudi Arabia Ministry of Commerce. (2022). Mc: Inspectors Make 6500 Visits To Ensure Businesses Have Credit Card Machines. Available at: <<u>https://mc.gov.sa/en/mediacenter/News/Pages/25-05-22-01.aspx</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

State Secretary for Consumer Protection, Eva De Bleeker. (2022). De Bleeker: 'New electronic payment rules are well followed - 103 infringement notifications in the first month'. Available at: <<u>https://evadebleeker.be/fr/actualite/</u>detail/de-bleeker-nieuwe-regelgeving-elektronische-betalingen-goed-opgevolgd-103-meldingen-over-inbreuken-tijdens-eerste-maand> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Shaikh, Asmat Ara; Kumar, Anuj; Syed, Asif Ali; Shaikh, Mohammed Zafar. (2021). A Two-Decade Literature Review on Challenges Faced by Smes In Technology Adoption. Academy of Marketing Studies Journal. Available at: <<u>https://www.abacademies.org/articles/a-twodecade-literature-review-on-challenges-faced-by-smes-in-technology-adoption-10489.html</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

State Tax Service of Ukraine. (2022). Banking service for accepting contactless payments on a smartphone is integrated with the STS's service. Available at: <<u>https://tax.gov.ua/en/mass-media/news/print-429004.html</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Statistics Canada. (2022). Small and medium businesses: Driving a large-sized economy. Available at: <<u>https://www.statcan.gc.ca/o1/en/plus/1253-small-and-medium-businesses-driving-large-sized-economy</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Strong Towns. (2018). Small Businesses Can Save Your Community. Available at: <<u>https://www.strongtowns.org/journal/2018/7/30/small-businesses-can-save-your-community</u>> [Accessed 9 August 2022].

Sung, Myung Jae; Awasthi, Rajul; Lee, Hyung Chul. (2017). Can Tax Incentives for Electronic Payments Reduce the Shadow Economy? Korea's Attempt to Reduce Underreporting in Retail Businesses. Policy Research Working Paper;No. 7936. World Bank, Washington, DC. © World Bank. License: CC BY 3.0 IGO. Available at: <<u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/25945</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Thomson Reuters Foundation. (2022). Africa's mobile money taxes could push poor out of digital economy. Available at: <<u>https://news.trust.org/item/20220525132730-c7nyf/</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Torres, Jesica; Maduko, Franklin; Gaddis, Isis; Iacovone, Leonardo; Beegle, Kathleen. (2021). The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Women-Led Businesses. Policy Research Working Paper;No. 9817. World Bank, Washington, DC. © World Bank. Available at: <<u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/36435</u>> License: CC BY 3.0 IGO. [Accessed 6 December 2022].

U.S. Small Business Administration. (2022). Table of Small Business Size Standards Matched to North American Industry Classification System Code. Available at: <<u>https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/2022-07/Table%20</u> <u>of%20Size%20Standards\_Effective%20July%2014%202022\_Final-508.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

UK Government; Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy. (2020). Check if you're eligible for the coronavirus Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund. Available at: <<u>https://www.gov.uk/guidance/</u> <u>check-if-youre-eligible-for-the-coronavirus-retail-hospitality-and-leisure-grant-fund</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

UK Government; Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (2022). Business population estimates for the UK and Regions 2022: Statistical release (HTML). Available at: <<u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/</u> <u>business-population-estimates-2022/business-population-estimates-for-the-uk-and-regions-2022-statistical-re-</u> <u>lease-html</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

UK Government; Department for Business, Innovation & Skills. (2012). Mid-sized businesses. Available at: <<u>https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/mid-sized-businesses</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

UK Government; HM Revenue & Customs. (2022). Tax gaps: Summary. Available at: <<u>https://www.gov.uk/govern-ment/statistics/measuring-tax-gaps/1-tax-gaps-summary</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

UK Parliament. (2021). SMEs: Access to Finance. Available at: <<u>https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2021-11-09/debates/A2D06704-408B-4C72-A6AD-3DB2C6F6C2FE/SmesAccessToFinance</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

UNCTAD. (2020) From COVID-19 and E-commerce, Impact On Businesses And Policy Responses. Available at: <<u>https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/dtlstictinf2020d2\_en.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

UNESCO Institute for Statistics (UIS). (n.d.). Senegal. Available at: <<u>https://uis.unesco.org/en/country/sn</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Visa Economic Empowerment Institute. (2021). Small Business in the Digital Age: Recommendations for Recovery and Resilience. Available at: <<u>https://usa.visa.com/content/dam/VCOM/global/ms/documents/veei-small-business-in-the-digital-age.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Visa Economic Empowerment Institute. (2022). Digital, diverse, and going global: A new dawn for women-led firms. Available at: <<u>https://usa.visa.com/content/dam/VCOM/regional/na/us/sites/documents/veei-women-small-busi-ness-in-the-digital-age.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Visa. (2020). Digital Transformation of SMEs: The Future of Commerce. Available at: <<u>https://www.visa.com.au/</u> <u>dam/VCOM/regional/ap/australia/global-elements/Documents/digital-transformation-of-smes.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Visa. (2021). Visa to set Vietnamese farmers up for Digital Transformation. Available at: <<u>https://www.visa.com.vn/en\_VN/about-visa/newsroom/press-releases/visa-to-set-vietnamese-farmers-up-for-digital-transformation.html</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Visa. (2021). The Power of Tap to Phone Technology for Financial Inclusion. Available at: <<u>https://usa.visa.com/</u> <u>content/dam/VCOM/regional/na/us/visa-everywhere/documents/tap-to-phone-technology-financial-inclu-</u> <u>sion-whitepaper.pdf</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Visa. (2021). Visa to Enable Deeper Financial Inclusion with Offline Payments in India. Available at: <<u>https://www.visa.co.in/about-visa/newsroom/press-releases/Visa-to-Enable-Deeper-Financial-Inclusion-with-Offline-Payments-in-India.html</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

Visa. (2022). Gulf Cooperation Council. Small business digital inclusion landscape. Available at: <<u>https://km.vis-amiddleeast.com/content/dam/VCOM/regional/cemea/genericmena/blog/2022/December/SMBs%20in%20</u> <u>GCC%20Blog.pdf</u>> [Accessed 16 December 2022].

Visa. (2022). Visa Back to Business. Global Study 2022 Small Business Outlook. Available at: <<u>https://mms.busi-nesswire.com/media/20220112005380/en/936084/1/10984902\_2022\_VISA\_B2Biz\_infographic\_FINAL.pdf?down-load=1&\_gl=1\*169e0sg\*\_ga\*MTU10DIxNzUzNC4xNjU4NDMyNjgw\*\_ga\_ZQWF70T3FK\*MTY2OTY5MTAwNi4xOS4wLjE2Njk2OTEwMDYuMC4wLjA> [Accessed 6 December 2022].</u>

Visa. (2022). Visa Study: Small Businesses Optimistic, Looking to Digital Payments for Growth in New Year. Available at: <<u>https://usa.visa.com/about-visa/newsroom/press-releases.releaseId.18711.html</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

World Bank Group. (2019). Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) Finance. Available at: <<u>https://www.worldbank.</u> <u>org/en/topic/smefinance</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

World Bank Group. (2020). Capital Markets and SMEs in Emerging Markets and Developing Economies: Can They Go the Distance?. World Bank, Washington, DC. © World Bank. Available at: <<u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.</u>org/handle/10986/33373> License: CC BY 3.0 IGO. [Accessed 6 December 2022].

World Bank Group. (2022). The Global Findex Database 2021. Available at: <<u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/</u> <u>publication/globalfindex/Data</u>> License: Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY 4.0) [Accessed 22 November 2022].

Wright, Richard; McClellan, Chandler; Tekin, Erdal; Dickinson, Timothy; Topalli, Volkan; Rosenfeld, Richard. (2017). Less Cash, Less Crime: Evidence from the Electronic Benefit Transfer Program. Available at: <<u>https://www.iza.org/publications/dp/8402/less-cash-less-crime-evidence-from-the-electronic-benefit-transfer-program</u>> [Accessed 6 December 2022].

#### **About Visa**

Visa Inc. is a global payments technology company that connects consumers, businesses, financial institutions, and governments in more than 200 countries and territories to fast, secure, and reliable digital payments.

At Visa Government Solutions, our mission is to help governments as they seek to advance their economies. We seek to make public disbursement programs more inclusive and impactful; help government employees execute payments in their daily roles more conveniently and with greater transparency; simplify government revenue collection for payers through better customer experience and provide payment data insight and measurement to governments to help inform and shape their policies.

#### <u>visa.com</u>

#### **About Kearney**

Kearney is a leading global management consulting firm with more than 4,200 people working in more than 40 countries. We work with more than three-quarters of the Fortune Global 500, as well as with the most influential governmental and non-profit organizations. Driven to be the difference between a big idea and making it happen, we help our clients break through with curiosity, boldness, generosity, solidarity, passion, and genuine commitment to client success.

#### kearney.com

